No. S277962

# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

 ${\it Luis \, Ramon \, Manzano \, Arellano}, \\ {\it Defendant \, and \, Appellant}.$ 

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H049413 Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 159386 The Honorable Daniel Nishigaya, Judge

#### RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

In resentencing a person whose murder conviction has been vacated under Penal Code section 1172.6, may a court impose any sentence enhancement in addition to the sentence for the target offense or underlying offense?

#### INTRODUCTION

At issue in this case is an interpretive question arising from Senate Bill No. 1437 concerning the proper scope of resentencing after a murder conviction has been vacated under Penal Code section 1172.6.1

Section 1172.6 does not address resentencing in any detail. Relevant here, section 1172.6, subdivision (e), provides that "[t]he petitioner's conviction shall be redesignated as the target offense or underlying felony for resentencing purposes if the petitioner is entitled to relief pursuant to this section, murder or attempted murder was charged generically, and the target offense was not charged." Appellant Luis Arellano argues that the trial court below violated this provision when, after granting relief on his section 1172.6 petition, it redesignated his second degree murder conviction as an attempted robbery and also imposed a related firearm enhancement. He contends that the statute does not permit the imposition of sentence enhancements.

Section 1172.6, subdivision (e), is silent with respect to the imposition of enhancements. But the text and structure of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All further statutory references in this brief are to the Penal Code.

statute, as well as the legislative intent behind it, show that resentencing courts possess broad discretion after vacating a murder conviction to fashion a new sentence commensurate with the petitioner's culpability under current law. The stated purpose of Senate Bill No. 1437 is to reform the law so that sentences are proportional to the individual culpability of the defendant. And the only explicit limitation on resentencing under section 1172.6 is that the new sentence "is not greater than the initial sentence." (§ 1172.6, subd. (d)(1).) Arellano's restrictive interpretation of a court's resentencing authority under section 1172.6 would lead to disparate outcomes in similar cases and could sometimes even result in an extraordinary windfall for the petitioner. It would also undermine the Legislature's goal of ensuring that punishment is better calibrated to individual culpability.

#### LEGAL BACKGROUND

Senate Bill No. 1437 changed the law of murder by amending Penal Code sections 188 and 189 to eliminate the "natural and probable consequences" doctrine and to restrict the scope of the felony-murder doctrine. (*People v. Gentile* (2020) 10 Cal.5th 830, 842-843.) The bill also established a petition process, now codified at section 1172.6, under which persons previously convicted of murder can seek to have their convictions vacated. (*Id.* at p. 843.)<sup>2</sup> Relief is available under section 1172.6 if a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Originally, this provision was codified as Penal Code section 1170.95. Effective January 1, 2022, the Legislature amended section 1170.95 to adopt certain of this Court's holdings (continued...)

petitioner shows that: (1) the prosecution proceeded under a theory that is no longer valid after Senate Bill No. 1437; (2) the petitioner was convicted of murder following a trial or an accepted plea; and (3) the petitioner could not today be convicted of murder because of the changes to section 188 or 189 made by Senate Bill No. 1437. (§ 1172.6, subd. (a)(1)-(3).)

When a petitioner makes this showing at a contested hearing, or when the prosecution stipulates to the petitioner's entitlement to relief, the court is required to vacate the petitioner's murder conviction and proceed to resentencing. (§ 1172.6, subds. (a), (d)(2), (d)(3).) Section 1172.6 states that the petitioner shall be resentenced "on any remaining counts in the same manner as if the petitioner had not previously been sentenced, provided that the new sentence, if any, is not greater than the initial sentence." (§ 1172.6, subd. (d)(1).) Alternatively, "[t]he petitioner's conviction shall be redesignated as the target offense or underlying felony for resentencing purposes if the petitioner is entitled to relief pursuant to this section, murder or attempted murder was charged generically, and the target offense was not charged." (§ 1172.6, subd. (e).) The statute also clarifies that "[a]ny applicable statute of limitations shall not be a

(...continued)

in *People v. Lewis* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 952. (Stats. 2021, ch. 551, § 1, subd. (b).) The Legislature later renumbered the provision without substantive change, effective June 30, 2022. (Stats. 2022, ch. 58, § 10.) This brief cites to the current version of the provision as codified at section 1172.6.

bar to the court's redesignation of the offense for this purpose." (*Ibid.*)

Several Court of Appeal decisions apart from the decision below have grappled with issues relating to the scope of a court's resentencing authority under section 1172.6. *People v. Howard* (2020) 50 Cal.App.5th 727 was the first published case to interpret section 1172.6, subdivision (e). In that case, an amended information charged Howard and two codefendants with first degree murder, alleged a special circumstance of burglary felony murder, and further alleged a firearm enhancement (§ 12022, subd. (a)(1)). (*Howard*, at p. 731.) A jury convicted Howard of first degree murder and found true the special circumstance and the firearm enhancement allegation. (*Id.* at p. 732.) Subsequently, Howard filed a petition for resentencing under section 1172.6. (*Id.* at p. 733.) Upon the agreement of the parties, the trial court granted the petition and vacated Howard's murder conviction. (*Ibid.*)

The trial court redesignated the conviction as a first degree residential burglary, even though the jury had been instructed on general burglary only, because it was clear from the evidence at trial that Howard committed a residential burglary with a person present. (*Howard*, *supra*, 50 Cal.App.5th at pp. 733-734; § 460, subd. (a) [burglary of a residence is of the first degree].) The court imposed the aggravated term of six years for first degree residential burglary, designated the burglary as a violent felony, and imposed an additional one-year term for a firearm enhancement (§ 12022, subd. (a)(1)). (*Howard*, at p. 734.)

The Court of Appeal in *Howard* held that the absence of a first degree burglary instruction and verdict did not preclude the superior court from redesignating the conviction as first degree burglary, because the evidence at trial established beyond any dispute that the building was a residence. (*Howard*, *supra*, 50 Cal.App.5th at p. 738.) Viewing subdivision (e) together with subdivision (d)(3), which describes with particularity the procedure for determining the petitioner's eligibility for relief, the court concluded that "the Legislature intended to grant the trial court flexibility when identifying the underlying felony for resentencing under subdivision (e)." (*Id*. at p. 739.) The court also reasoned that by designating Howard's conviction as first degree burglary, the trial court furthered the statute's stated purpose to punish a defendant according to his "own level of individual culpability." (*Ibid*.)

The *Howard* court also held that the firearm enhancement was properly imposed as part of the resentencing. (*Howard*, supra, 50 Cal.App.5th at pp. 741-742.) The court first noted that section 1172.6, subdivision (e), is silent as to whether enhancements may be included in the new sentence. (*Id.* at p. 741.) It then reasoned that the "traditional latitude for sentencing courts" permits the imposition of an enhancement if established by the evidence in a section 1172.6 proceeding. (*Id.* at p. 742.) And it concluded that the enhancement was properly imposed in that case because the evidence established the facts supporting the enhancement "beyond any possible dispute." (*Ibid.*)

People v. Watson (2021) 64 Cal.App.5th 474 addressed section 1172.6, subdivision (e), in a slightly different context. The petitioner, Watson, sought relief under section 1172.6 following his guilty plea to second degree murder. (*Id.* at p. 478.) At a hearing on his section 1172.6 petition, Watson testified about the crime, describing how one of his cohorts had devised a plan to go to the victim's hotel room and take his money. (*Id.* at p. 479.) Watson knocked on the door, went into the room, and grabbed the victim from behind; his two cohorts then entered the room and one of them stabbed the victim during a struggle. (*Id.* at p. 479.) The court granted Watson's petition and redesignated his murder conviction as two separate felonies: a first degree robbery and first degree burglary. (*Id.* at pp. 480-481.)

On appeal, Watson argued that, under section 1172.6, subdivision (e)'s requirement that the conviction be redesignated as "the target offense or underlying felony," the superior court was limited to identifying only one underlying felony. (Watson, supra, 64 Cal.App.5th at p. 485.) The Court of Appeal disagreed, pointing to section 7, which states that "the singular number includes the plural, and the plural the singular." (Ibid.) The court also agreed with Howard's reasoning that section 1172.6, subdivision (e), read together with subdivision (d)(3), "reflects a legislative intent to grant trial courts flexibility in designating the underlying offense for resentencing purposes." (Id. at p. 488.) Further, looking to the legislative history of Senate Bill No. 1437, the court explained, "A construction that is more aligned with the statute's purpose and history is one that does not eliminate the

discretion of the courts to designate more than one felony when necessary to 'calibrate' a defendant's punishment to his or her culpability." (*Id.* at p. 492.)

People v. Silva (2021) 72 Cal. App. 5th 505 also involved the redesignation of a murder conviction to multiple felonies. Unlike in Watson, all but one of the redesignated felonies in Silva were committed against individuals other than the murder victims. (Id. at p. 531.) A jury had convicted Silva and his two codefendants of two counts of first degree murder arising out of a home-invasion robbery. (Id. at p. 509.) During the robbery, a number of people were taken into a back room of a house and robbed, and two visitors to the house were shot and killed after one of them was robbed at gunpoint. (Id. at pp. 509, 511.) In subsequent 1172.6 proceedings, the prosecution conceded that Silva was entitled to relief. (Id. at p. 513.) Following briefing and argument, the court imposed sentence on five counts of home-invasion robbery in concert and one attempted homeinvasion robbery in concert. (Id. at p. 515.) Although all of these robbery counts had been included in the original information, the amended information did not include any robbery charges. (*Id.* at pp. 512, 515.)

The Court of Appeal rejected Silva's argument that he could be resentenced only for two generic, second degree robberies. (Silva, supra, 72 Cal.App.5th at pp. 518-532.) The court held that a resentencing judge may engage in factfinding as part of the redesignation procedure under section 1172.6. (Id. at p. 520.) The court also concluded that the statute vests a resentencing

court "with considerable discretion in redesignating the petitioner's murder convictions as underlying felonies and resentencing a petitioner to an appropriate term of years based on his or her individual culpability." (*Id.* at p. 532.) Accordingly, the court reasoned, "the [resentencing] court may consider the full extent of the petitioner's criminal conduct, and the redesignation may reflect, among other things, the number of crime victims, not just the number of murder charges on which the petitioner was convicted." (*Ibid.*)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## A. Arellano's plea and sentence

In 1992, Arellano participated in a residential burglary and attempted robbery that resulted in the shooting and killing of one of the occupants of the house. (Opn. 2, 4.) Arellano and two codefendants were charged with: murder "with malice aforethought" (§ 187); attempted robbery (§§ 211, 212.5, subd. (a), 664); and first degree burglary (§§ 459, 460, subd. (a)). (Opn. 2.) With respect to the murder and attempted robbery counts, the complaint alleged that each defendant personally used a firearm during the commission of the offense (§§ 12022.5, subd. (a), 1203.06). (Opn. 2.)

Prior to the preliminary hearing, the parties reached a plea agreement. The prosecutor moved to amend the murder count to strike the phrase "with malice" and charge Arellano with second degree murder, and Arellano pleaded guilty to that charge in exchange for the dismissal of the remaining counts and the firearm enhancement allegations. (Opn. 2-3; see also CT 9-10.)

The court sentenced Arellano to an indeterminate term of 15 years to life. (Opn. 3.)

#### B. Arellano's resentencing under section 1172.6

Following the enactment of Senate Bill No. 1437, Arellano, through counsel, filed a petition for resentencing under section 1172.6. (Opn. 3.) The prosecution stipulated to resentencing. (Opn. 4.) The superior court vacated Arellano's murder conviction, stayed execution of the vacatur pending resentencing, and set the matter for further proceedings to redesignate the charge or charges upon which Arellano would be resentenced. (Opn. 4-5.)

After the parties submitted briefing, the court held a hearing on the redesignation and resentencing. (Opn. 5-7.) Although Arellano's attorney had initially agreed that Arellano would be resentenced on the attempted robbery offense and firearm enhancement, he asserted at the hearing that the court lacked authority to impose the enhancement and that the evidence was unclear regarding whether Arellano possessed a firearm. (Opn. 5, 7.)

The superior court rejected Arellano's argument. (Opn. 7.) Relying on *Howard*, the court concluded that it had "the authority to redesignate the murder conviction to an appropriate target offense, to properly reflect the defendant-petitioner's individual culpability under the circumstances that have led to the petition itself and is the purpose for which we are here." (Opn. 7.) The court also observed that there was evidence in the

record suggesting that Arellano possessed a handgun during the underlying offense. (Opn. 8.)

The court redesignated Arellano's conviction as attempted robbery (§§ 211, 212.5, subd. (a), 664) with a related firearm enhancement (§ 12022.5, subd. (a)). (Opn. 8.) The court resentenced Arellano to a total term of seven years, consisting of the upper term of three years for the attempted robbery and the middle term of four years for the firearm enhancement. (Opn. 8.) The court found that the seven-year prison term was satisfied by time served. (Opn. 8.)

### C. The Court of Appeal's decision

The Court of Appeal reversed. (Opn. 22.) The court began with the observation that section 1172.6's literal language did not cover the circumstances of this case because a target offense was charged, making subdivision (e) inapplicable, but that charge was later dismissed, making subdivision (d)(3) inapplicable. The court held, however, that subdivision (e) authorized the trial court to "redesignate Arellano's murder conviction using the attempted robbery as the target offense/underlying felony and to resentence Arellano on that crime." (Opn. 13-14.) That interpretation, the court reasoned, "avoids a nonsensical circumstance in which a petitioner like Arellano, who is entitled to relief from his murder conviction under section 1172.6 and had originally been charged with a target offense or underlying felony that later was dismissed as part of a plea bargain, could not be resentenced if no other conviction remained extant after vacatur of the murder conviction." (Opn. 14.)

But, disagreeing with *Howard*, the court further held that "the plain meaning of the phrase '[t]he petitioner's conviction shall be redesignated as the target offense or underlying felony for resentencing purposes' in section 1172.6, subdivision (e), does not authorize enhancements to be attached to the redesignated conviction for resentencing." (Opn. 17.) The court relied on "the settled distinction in our penal law between an 'offense' and a sentence enhancement and the statutory framework of section 1172.6 as a whole," finding significance in the fact that in subdivision (e), the Legislature called for resentencing only on the "target offense" without mentioning enhancements. (Opn. 18-20.) The court also pointed to subdivision (d)(3), which makes specific reference to enhancements by requiring that when a petitioner is entitled to relief under section 1172.6, "the prior conviction, and any allegations and enhancements attached to the conviction, shall be vacated." (Opn. 20.) The court defended its interpretation against an anticipated objection that it would "result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend," stating that its holding "simply limits a petitioner's exposure in a relatively definite manner to only a specific offense and avoids the complexities that could arise in deciding which of the myriad sentencing enhancements in our penal law might be applicable to a particular factual scenario." (Opn. 19.)

The court remanded the case for further proceedings to redesignate Arellano's vacated murder conviction as the underlying felony and resentence him. (Opn. 21.) The court stated, "We leave it to the trial court and parties on remand to

determine whether the underlying felony for resentencing purposes should comprise either or both attempted robbery and first degree burglary." (Opn. 21.) The court also "invite[d]" the Legislature to "review the statutory scheme and clarify whether this subdivision (1) applies to crimes that were originally charged but dismissed prior to the original murder conviction and (2) authorizes a court to include sentence enhancements when resentencing on a target offense or underlying felony." (Opn. 21.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

A RESENTENCING COURT HAS THE AUTHORITY UNDER SECTION 1172.6 TO IMPOSE A SENTENCE ENHANCEMENT IN CONNECTION WITH A REDESIGNATED CONVICTION

The text of section 1172.6, subdivision (e), does not directly address whether a resentencing court may impose a sentence enhancement once the court has redesignated the vacated murder conviction as the "target offense" or "underlying felony." Viewing subdivision (e) in the context of the other provisions of section 1172.6, the statute is best read as providing resentencing courts with flexibility in fashioning a new sentence after vacating a murder conviction, including by imposing sentence enhancements. This interpretation accords with the legislative purpose behind Senate Bill No. 1437, which was to reform the laws so that sentences are commensurate with the individual moral culpability of the defendant.

### A. The principles of statutory construction

When interpreting a statute, the reviewing court's "fundamental task . . . is to determine the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the law's purpose." (Sierra Club v. Superior

Court (2013) 57 Cal.4th 157, 165.) The reviewing court must first examine the statutory language "giving it a plain and commonsense meaning"; in doing so, the court must not view the statutory language in isolation, "but in the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment." (Coalition of Concerned Communities, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (2004) 34 Cal.4th 733, 737.) "Literal construction should not prevail if it is contrary to the legislative intent apparent in the statute. The intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (Lungren v. Deukmejian (1988) 45 Cal.3d 727, 735.)

If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may look to extrinsic interpretive aides, such as the statute's purpose, legislative history, and public policy. (*City of San Jose v. Superior Court* (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608, 617.) Ultimately, the court should adopt "the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute." (*Mays v. City of Los Angeles* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 313, 321.)

# B. The text and structure of section 1172.6 suggest that resentencing courts possess broad discretion in redesignating a vacated murder conviction

The text of section 1172.6 as a whole strongly suggests that the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute is incorrect and that, instead, courts retain broad discretion in resentencing under subdivision (e), including the discretion to impose sentence enhancements.

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