IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA,) No. S277962	
) (Sixth District Court of Ap	peal
) H049412)	
Plaintiff and Appellee,)	
)	
-vs-)	
)	
LUISRAMON MANZANO ARELLANIO)	
)	
Defendant and Appellant.)	
)	

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Santa Clara THE HONORABLE DANIEL NISHIGAYA

> Peter F. Goldscheider State Bar Number 53617 600 Allerton Street Ste. 201 Redwood City, CA 94063 (650) 323-8296 Attorney for Appellant Under Appointment by Supreme Court PFGOLDS@aol.com

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

ARGUMENT

NEITHER PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION NOR THE TEXT AND STATUTORY PURPOSE OF THE NEW LAW REQUIRE OR PERMIT RESENTENCING COURTS TO IMPOSE ENHANCEMENTS IN DESIGNATING THE TARGET OFFENSE FOLLOWING A VACATED MURDER CONVICTION

After the trial court, over the objection of the District Attorney, found that petitioner has demonstrated a prima facie case for relief, the prosecutor then implicitly conceded that, based on the available record, he would be unable prove appellant guilty of murder beyond a reasonable doubt. The trial court then vacated appellant's murder conviction and re-designated the "target" offense as robbery in violation of section 211. It also however, added the personal use enhancement pursuant to section 12022.5, that had been charged in the initial complaint, but dismissed as part of the plea bargain.

Because this allegation, though initially charged, had been dismissed as part of the plea bargain and thus the truth of which had never been litigated, the trial court relied on subdivision (e) of then section 1170.95 to impose the enhancement as part of the target offense of attempted robbery. As mentioned, respondent does not address at all appellant's contentions that no admissible evidence was received to prove even the target offense let alone the enhancement. Nor was appellant even apprised of the evidence, if any, that the trial court considered, or whether the trial court had found the target offense and the enhancement had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Indeed, respondent appears to suggest that, despite the fact that it was not only never the subject of a jury finding, the trial court had the power to resurrect it as part of the target offense merely because the weapons enhancement was charged in the original prosecution, and may well have been dismissed at the time for insufficient evidence.

Citing *Howard*, respondent's argues that "the absence of language regarding the procedure for redesignating the conviction and resentencing thereon suggests a purposeful design to afford trial courts with flexibility in carrying out these tasks." Resp p. 22. Respondent also notes similar language in *People v*. *Watson supra*. 65 Cal. App. 5th at p. 488, that "section 1170.95 "reflects a legislative intent to grant superior court's flexibility in designating the underlying felony for resentencing purposes".

Nothing in the statute however supports these claims nor do the holdings of *Watson* or *Howard*, at least with regard to imposing enhancements that were not alleged as part of the remaining counts of conviction. And basic principles of statutory construction suggest the opposite is true.

A. Applicable Principles of Statutory Construction

As discussed already, it is fundamental that "[i]n ascertaining the Legislature's intent, a court turns first to language of the statute, giving the words their ordinary meaning." (*People v. Broussard* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 1067, 1071; see also *People v. Lewis* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 952, 964 ["it is well settled that we must look first to the words of the statute, 'because they generally provide the most reliable indicator of legislative intent"].) Statutes should not be read in a way that leads to absurd results inconsistent with apparent legislative intent. (*People v. Cruz* (1996) 13 Cal.4th 764, 782- 783.)

Further, in construing the proper interpretation of a statute the principle of the maxim of "expressio unius est exclusio alterius" applies. That means " 'the

expression of certain things in a statute necessarily involves exclusion of other things not expressed.' " (*Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1391, fn. 13. It is true that expressio unius est exclusio alterius is no magical incantation, nor does it refer to an immutable rule. Like all such guidelines, it has many exceptions. For example, the rule is inapplicable where no manifest reason exists why other persons or things than those enumerated should not be included and thus exclusion would result in injustice or would run counter to a well established principle of law or "would contradict a discernible and contrary legislative intent.". (*In re Michael G.* (1988) 44 Cal.3d 283, 291; see also *Hennigan v. United Pacific Insurance* Co (1975) 53 Cal.App.3d 1, 7 ["An intent that finds no expression in the words of the statute cannot be found to exist. The courts may not speculate that the Legislature meant something other than what it said. Nor may they rewrite a statute to make it express an intention not expressed therein."].) "

In addition, under the "second rule of statutory construction" in criminal cases (also known as the rule of lenity), when a statute is susceptible to two reasonable constructions, it "shall be" construed "as favorably to the defendant as its language in the circumstances of its application may reasonably permit...." (*Keeler v. Superior Court* (1970) 2 Cal.3d 619, 631. The application of this rule is not discretionary. This Court has held that in considering a penal application of a statute whose language is susceptible of two constructions, the court *must* ordinarily adopt the construction more favorable to the offender. "The defendant is entitled to the benefit of every reasonable doubt, whether it arise out of a question of fact, or as to the true interpretation of words or the construction of language used in a statute." (*In re Tartar* (1959) 52 Cal.2d 250, 257; see also *People v. Piper* (1986) 42 Cal.3d 471, 477; *People v. Craft* (1986) 41 Cal.3d 554, 560.)

Finally, as already mentioned as well, it is a fundamental and long-standing

principle of judicial restraint requires that courts avoid reaching constitutional questions in advance of the necessity of deciding them. (*Lyng v. Northwest Indian Cemetery Protective Ass'n* (1988) 485 U.S. 439, 445; *People v. Navarro* (2007) 40 Cal. 4th 668, 675; see also *Santa Clara County Local Transportation Authority v. Guardino* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220, 230–231; *Ashwander v. Valley Authority* (1936) 297 U.S. 288, 347 (conc. opn. of Brandeis, J.).)

As discussed below, the application of each and every one of those principles here compels the result reached by the court of appeal.

B. Neither the Text nor the Structure of Section 1172.6 Suggests that Resentencing Courts Should Depart from the Literal Language of the Statute

Respondent admits that enhancements have not been deemed to be an element of the substantive offense in many of the contexts in which the issue has arisen. (e.g, *People v. Law* (2011)195 Cal.App.4th 976, 982, (proof of gun enhancement); *People v. Rodriguez* (2009) 47 Cal.4th 501, 508 [applicability of section 654 to sentencing enhancements]; *People v. Coronado* (1995) 12 Cal.4th 145, 157, fn. 8 [multiple enhancements; *People v. Dennis* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 468, 500 and *People v. Wolcott* (1983) 34 Cal.3d 92, 96 [enhancements not part of the underlying offense for lesser offense purposes].)

Respondent goes on to argue, however, that by looking at other provisions of section 1172.6 it can be discerned that the legislature intended there be "flexibility" to fashion a target offense. Merely because subdivision (d) allows sentencing on the "remaining" counts, that is the counts of conviction, respondent appears to concludes that that evinces an intent to allow a trial court to impose an enhancement even if it does so from an undeterminable record. Quoting *Howard*, respondent argues that "]t]he absence of language regarding the procedure for redesignating the conviction and resentencing thereon suggests a purposeful design to afford trial courts with flexibility in carrying out these tasks. (See *Howard*, supra, 50 Cal.App.5th at p. 739. Further, quoting *Howard* further, respondent asserts that "[r]eading subdivision (d)(3) and (e) together suggests the Legislature knew how to circumscribe the court's redesignation decisionmaking power and declined to do so". Resp. p 21 Of course, respondent does not extend this principle to limit the trial court's power to add an enhancement as part of the target offense, a power which the legislature could easily have provided. If the Legislature had intended to permit the resentencing court to reinstate the allegations and enhancements that had been originally dismissed, it surely would have said so.

It is apparent that respondent's interpretation is contrary to the foregoing principles of statutory construction support respondent's view of the legislative intent in enacting section 1172.6, including the literal words of the statute as written. Rather the principle of expressio unius est exclusio alterius, applied here, suggests that by omitting the term "enhancements" in subdivision (e) but using it in subdivision (d) with regard to vacating the murder, attempted murder or manslaughter and attendant enhancements, it was intended that enhancement not be deemed part of the target offense. Applying the rule of lenity, if there is any ambiguity, compels that that interpretation should be the one this Court adopts.

Nevertheless, respondent contends that applying these basic rules here would result in absurd results and a disparity between subdivision (d) and (e) that was not intended. Respondent relies primarily on imaginary scenarios where the result would depend on the arbitrary charging decisions in the original prosecution. As an example, petitioner envisions a prosecution for a murder and an underlying misdemeanor, apparently suggesting that some type of misdemeanor murder by an aider and abettor even exists. To the extent that aiding a misdemeanor under the natural and probable consequence doctrine was at one time possible (see e.g. *People v. Mouton* (1993) 10 Cal. App. 4th 118 (depublished after rehearing), that possibility has rightly been eliminated by the amendments to section 188 as interpreted by the this Court. (*People v. Gentile* (2020) 10 Cal. 5th 830, 844.) If there is no underlying felony a defendant would not be resentenced to a felony whether it was charged or not.

Next, respondent hypothesizes that a literal interpretation of subdivision (e) would disallow dismissed charges or enhancements to be used by the trial court in resentencing following the vacating of the homicide conviction, but if they were never charged could be so used. Nothing in the decision of the court of appeal nor appellant's arguments suggests such an implausible scenario. That court recognized what such an interpretation would lead absurd to absurd results, and thus interpreted subdivision (e) in the manner in which it was obviously intended. If the underlying target offense was among the counts of conviction, a defendant would be sentenced to that offense under subdivision (d) and if the murder was charged generically or the charge dismissed, the trial court could readily discern the target offense from the remainder of the record of conviction. It matters not whether it was never charged or charged and dismissed. Appellant does not suggest a contrary result. No arbitrary results are likely from such an interpretation.

Again nothing in the plain text of the statute or any reasonable interpretation of it compels the result respondent urge here. While it is true that in identifying the target offense under subdivision (e) might involve combing the record of conviction in a similar manner as would be required in deciding if the facts of the case support the imposition of a sentencing enhancement, for the reasons already stated this fact does not support respondent's argument as to the scope of the permitted review. In addition And it is further true while the same "issues of notice and proof" (Resp. p. 25), as well as a number of other due process considerations (see supra. and infra.) are implicated when a court redesignates a vacated murder conviction this fact is irrelevant to the question presented. If anything, such an observation merely supports the narrow interpretation of the court of appeal and appellant's arguments here.

Appellant agrees with respondent that the "purpose of Senate Bill No. 1437 is to reform the law so that sentences are proportional to the individual culpability of the defendant", and "a person should be punished for his or her actions according to his or her own level of individual culpability". (Stats. 2018, ch. 1015, § 1, subd. (d).) Resp p.8. He or she should receive a sentence that is nothing less nor nothing more than what is deserving. That determination, however, should not be at the sake of due process and a fair adjudication of that individual's culpability. Nor may an interpretation of an ambiguous statute result in one that is not construed "as favorably to the defendant as its language in the circumstances of its application may reasonably permit...." (*Keeler v. Superior Court* supra. 2 Cal.3d 619, 631. What respondent seeks apparently is for a trial court to exceed the language of the statute, apparently comb a record of conviction in which the facts may be equivocal, and fashion a target offense that includes enhancements that were not only never proven at trial but also can not now be proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

As mentioned, contrary to *Howard,* of course, the instant case did not stem from a jury trial but rather a plea. In addition to the factual issues not being decided upon by a jury, they were never litigated in any manner, including at a preliminary hearing. As a result the "flexibility" referred to in *Howard* and *People v. Silva* supra. 72 Cal. App. 5th 505 cannot be construed in any event in the manner respondent suggests. To the extent that the record in *Howard* contained proof of the "target offense", including enhancements, that was not the case here. Given the language of the statute and to obviate due process and constitutional implications, neither the text nor structure of the statute suggest that the legislature intended anymore than envisioned by the court of appeal here.

C. Nothing in the Legislative History Provides any Basis for an Interpretation of the Statute to Give the Resentencing Court the Power to Add Enhancements that were Neither Charged nor Proven in the Original Trial Court Proceedings

As mentioned appellant has no quarrel with respondent's emphasis on the purpose of SB 1437 as seeking to restore proportional responsibility in the application of California's murder statute, reserving the harshest punishments for those who intentionally planned or actually committed the killing." (Assem. Com. on Appropriations, Rep. on Sen. Bill No.1437 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess. (Aug. 8, 2018, p. 2.)) Indeed appellant concurs in particular with respondent's observations about the barbarity and overdue demise of the felony murder rule. And as mentioned, appellant similarly understands that some of the petitioners who seek relief under the new statute were guilty of serious crimes, even if they were not charged with or convicted of them at the time they were originally prosecuted. As a result of the passage of time many of these petitioners could not be prosecuted today. Appellant acknowledges justice must be done. However nothing in the legislative history of the new law as articulated by respondent in any way supports what respondent seeks here.

The principles for interpreting a statute have already been discussed. Nothing in those principles suggest that the interpretation of the court of appeal runs afoul of the law's purpose. The court of appeal examined the statutory language and gave it the only "plain and commonsense meaning" possible. In so doing it considered the "the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment." (*Coalition of Concerned Communities, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles* (2004) 34 Cal.4th 733, 737.)

Further, the rule of lenity aside, if the statutory language did permit more

than one reasonable interpretation, and this Court needed to refer to the legislative history as an extrinsic interpretive aid, including the statute's purpose, and the public policy considerations behind it, respondent still fails to articulate why its assertion that enhancements may be designated as part of the target offense under subdivision (e) is a " construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting *rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute.*" (*Mays v. City of Los Angeles* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 313, 321.)

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